Case 16_04006 DOC 292 Flled 11/0:11 ) MFedavad 11/IACI10 12.F1.A7 NaAan~a NAin
~ D 1 .
Document Page 1 of 39 ocket #0292 Date Filed: 11/5/2018

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

Im. 185 Chapter 11 Cases
TELEXFREE, LLC, 14-40987-MSH
TELEXFREE, INC. and 14-40988-MSH
TELEXFREE FINANCIAL, INC,, 14-40989-MSH
Debtors. Jointly Administered

STEPHEN B. DARR AS HE IS TRUSTEE OF
THE CHAPTER 11 ESTATES OF
TELEXFREE, LLC,

TELEXFREE, INC. and Adversary Proceeding
TELEXFREE FINANCIAL, INC,, No.16-4032
Plaintiff,

V.

CARLOS WANZELER, ET AL,
Defendant(s).

STEPHEN B. DARR AS HE IS TRUSTEE OF
THE CHAPTER 11 ESTATES OF
TELEXFREE, LLC,

TELEXFREE, INC. and Adversary Proceeding
TELEXFREE FINANCIAL, INC., No.16-4006
Plaintift,

V.

BENJAMIN ARGUETA, ET AL
Defendant(s).

MOTION BY TRUSTEE TO APPROVE STIPULATION OF SETTLEMENT AMONG
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, CHAPTER 11 TRUSTEE
AND FABIO WANZELER AND CLAUDIA WANZELER

Stephen Darr, the duly appointed Chapter 11 Trustee (the “Chapter 11 Trustee”) of

TelexFree, LLC, TelexFree, Inc. and TelexFree Financial, Inc. (“TelexFree” or the “Debtors”),
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respectfully requests that the Court approve the stipulation (“Stipulation”) attached hereto by and
among the United States of America (“United States™), the Chapter 11 Trustee and Fabio
Wanzeler (“Fabio”) and his wife Claudia Wanzeler (“Claudia” and, collectively, the
“Wanzelers”), pursuant to Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure 9019. The Stipulation is
anticipated to generate a substantial recovery for the TelexFree estates, will resolve disputes with
respect to assets subject to forfeiture proceedings commenced by the United States, and will
settle estate claims against substantial participants in the TelexFree scheme. In support of this

motion, the Chapter 11 Trustee states as follows:

BACKGROUND

1. On April 13, 2014 (the “Petition Date”), the Debtors filed voluntary Chapter 11
petitions with the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Nevada.

2. By order dated May 6, 2014, the Nevada Bankruptcy Court approved a motion to
change venue filed by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). The cases were
transferred to this Court on May 9, 2014.

3 On May 30, 2014, the Court approved the motion of the Office of the United
States Trustee to appoint a trustee, and the Chapter 11 Trustee was appointed on June 6, 2014.

4. The Debtors ostensibly operated a “multi-level marketing” company with its
headquarters in Marlborough, Massachusetts. It represented itself as being in the business of
selling telephone service plans that use “voice over internet protocol” (“VoIP”) technology. The
sale of VoIP, however, constituted only a minor portion of their business; the Debtors’ actual
business was the recruitment of participants (“Participants”). The Debtors operated a massive
Ponzi and pyramid scheme which involved upwards of a million Participants from multiple

countries.
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5. On November 25, 2015, the Court, on motion by the Chapter 11 Trustee and after
notice, entered an Order, as amended on December 21, 2015, finding that the Debtors were
engaged in a Ponzi scheme and that this ruling was the law of the case in each of the jointly
administered cases.

6. On January 26, 2016, the Court entered an order approving a process for the
determination of Participant claims based upon their involvement in the TelexFree scheme. The
order approved the use of the “Net Equity” formula in determining a Participant’s claim against
the estates. Specifically, in determining whether a Participant was a Net Winner or Net Loser,
the Court would consider amounts invested by a Participant, including amounts invested
pursuant to Triangular Transactions,' less amounts received by the Participant from involvement
in the scheme, including amounts received through Triangular Transactions.

I. The Wanzelers’ Involvement in TelexFree

7. The Wanzelers were promoters of TelexFree. According to the Debtors’ records
of Participant activity that was reconstructed by the Chapter 11 Trustee, Fabio was a Net Winner
in the aggregate amount of $633,578 on account of both direct transactions with TelexFree and
Triangular Transactions. Claudia was a net loser in the amount of approximately $7,000.

1L. Trustee Litigation

8. Fabio is the subject of two separate actions brought by the Chapter 11 Trustee (the

“Adversary Proceedings”).

! “Triangular Transactions” refer generally to transactions where a Participant purchased a TelexKree
membership plan or phone package from the Debtors and paid the associated fee to the recruiting
Participant, rather than directly to the Debtors, and the recruiting Participant satisfied the new recruit’s
invoice through the application of accumulated credits “earned” from involvement in the TelexFree
program.

3
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S Fabio is an unnamed defendant in the domestic class action suit, adversary
proceeding number 16-4006, in which the Chapter 11 Trustee seeks the recovery of fraudulent and
preferential transfers from all Net Winners located within the United States (the “Domestic Class
Action”). The defendant class has been certified and class counsel has been retained.

10.  Fabio is one of many named defendants in adversary proceeding number 16-4032
(the “4032 Action”), which seeks recovery from Fabio for fraudulent transfers and related claims in
furtherance of the TelexFree scheme. This action had been stayed because of the pendency of the
criminal proceedings against the Debtors’ principals.

III. District Court Litigation

11.  On September 8, 2016, a federal grand jury sitting in the District of Massachusetts
returned a seventeen-count First Superseding Indictment charging James Metrill and Carlos
Wanzeler, with Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349 (Count
One); Wire Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (Counts Two through Nine); and Engaging in
Monetary Transactions in Property Derived from Specified Unlawful Activity, in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1957(a) and 2 (Counts Ten through Seventeen).

12.  The First Superseding Indictment contained a Forfeiture Allegation, which gave
notice that the United States sought forfeiture, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C.
§ 2461(c), upon conviction of one or more of the offenses charged in Counts One through Nine of
the First Superseding Indictment, of any property, real or personal, that constitutes, or is derived
from, proceeds traceable to the commission of the offenses.

13.  In addition, the First Superseding Indictment contained a Money Laundering
Forfeiture Allegation, which gave notice that the United States sought forfeiture, pursuant to 18

U.S.C. § 982(a)(1), upon conviction of one or more of the offenses alleged in Counts Ten

4
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through Seventeen of the First Superseding Indictment, of any property, real or personal,
involved in the offenses, and any property traceable to such property.

14. On October 24, 2016, at a hearing pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of
Criminal Procedure, defendant James Merrill (“Merrill”) pled guilty to Counts One through Nine
of the First Superseding Indictment, pursuant to a written plea agreement signed by Merrill on
October 24, 2016.2

19- In Section 8 of the written plea agreement, Merrill agreed to the forfeiture of the
assets listed in Exhibit A to the plea agreement, which included the following two real
properties:

a. the real property located at 4506 San Mellina Drive, Coconut Creek, Florida (the
“San Mellina Drive Property”);

b. the real property located at 10556 Cape Delabra Ct, Boynton Beach, Florida (the
“Cape Delabra Property” and, together with the San Mellina Drive Properties, the
“Florida Properties™);

16. Merrill admitted that the assets listed in Exhibit A to the plea agreement,
including the San Mellina Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property, are subject to
forfeiture on the grounds that they are propetty, real or personal, that constituted, or were derived
from, proceeds traceable to the commission of the offenses charged in Counts One through Nine
of the First Superseding Indictment, and Merrill consented to the entry of an order of forfeiture
against such property.

17. On March 21, 2017, the United States filed an Assented-To Motion for Preliminary
Order of Forfeiture in the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts (the

“District Court”) seeking forfeiture of numerous assets, including the San Mellina Drive Property

2 The United States agreed to dismiss Counts Ten through Seventeen of the First Superseding
Indictment following the Court’s imposition of Merrill’s sentence.
5
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and the Cape Delabra Property. On March 22, 2017, the District Court granted the Motion for
Preliminary Order of Forfeiture. Upon entry of a final order of forfeiture, ownership of the Florida
Properties would vest in the United States.

18. On March 22, 2017, the District Court sentenced Merrill to 72 months
imprisonment and three years’ supervised release.

19. On July 11, 2017, the District Court entered a Restitution Order against Merrill,
which provided that based Lipon the complexity and volume of restitution payments to victims in
this case, the Chapter 11 Trustee shall administer and pay restitution to Participants holding

allowed claims (the “Restitution Order”).

20.  Notice of the Preliminary Order of Forfeiture was sent to all interested parties and

published on the government website www.forfeiture.gov for thirty (30) consecutive calendar

days, beginning on May 16, 2017, and ending on June 14, 2017, and also beginning on June 16,
2017, and ending on July 15, 2017.

21.  OnlJuly 25,2017, Fabio filed verified claims asserting an interest in the San
Mellina Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property. No other party has filed a petition
claiming an interest in the San Mellina Drive Property or the Cape Delabra Property, and the
time within which to do so has expired.

22. The United States, the Chapter 11 Trustee, and the Wanzelers have entered into
negotiations to resolve issues respecting the competing claims in the Florida Properties and the

disposition of any proceeds from the sale or refinance of such properties. As a result of such
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negotiations, the parties have entered into the attached Stipulation, which provides in substance as
follows:>
Settlement
23 Upon execution by the Parties, the Stipulation shall be filed with the District
Court. The District Court and the Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction to enforce the
provisions of the Stipulation.
24. Upon execution of the Stipulation, the United States shall file an assented-to
motion to modify the restraining order entered against the San Mellina Drive Property and the
Cape Delabra Property to allow the following:

a. The Wanzelers shall execute a deed transferring ownership of the San Mellina
Drive Property to the Chapter 11 Trustee; and

b. The Wanzelers shall obtain a mortgage against the Cape Delabra Property for a
net payment in the amount of $250,000, which funds shall be paid to the Chapter
11 Trustee, in lieu of forfeiture of the Cape Delabra Property.

25, The United States shall also execute a release of the lis pendens against the Cape
Delabra Property and shall provide the original of the release of lis pendens to Fabio and Claudia
Wangzeler at the closing of any mortgage against the Cape Delabra Property.

26. Upon modification of the Restraining Order, the Chapter 11 Trustee shall file the
within motion. The District Court entered an order modifying the Restraining Order on
November 2, 2018 [docket entry 412, District Court criminal no. 14-40028-TSH].

27. If the Bankruptcy Court denies this motion, the Stipulation shall be null and void.

28. If the Bankruptcy Court approves this motion, then within 30 days after the date

of the Bankruptcy Court’s order granting the motion, Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler shall:

3 To the extent of any inconsistencies between the Stipulation and this motion, the terms of the Stipulation
attached as Exhibit A shall govern.
7
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a. Execute and deliver to the Chapter 11 Trustee the deed attached hereto as Exhibit
B, transferring ownership of the San Mellina Drive Property to the Chapter 11
Trustee for sale;

b. Release and waive any right, claim, interest, or exemption in the San Mellina
Drive Property.
c. Vacate the San Mellina Drive Property and turn possession of the San Mellina

Drive Property over to the Chapter 11 Trustee within ten days of Bankruptcy
Court approval of the Stipulation (the “Vacancy Date™), leaving the property
undamaged and free of personal effects, and shall cause any other party to vacate
the property. On and after the Vacancy Date, the Chapter 11 Trustee may take
any and all actions required to market and sell the San Mellina Drive Property for
the benefit of the TelexFree estates. In the event that Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler
or another may fail to timely vacate the property, the Chapter 11 Trustee may take
all steps reasonably required to remove the occupants, and Fabio and Claudia
Wanzeler shall be liable to the Chapter 11 Trustee for the costs and expenses
associated therewith, including attorneys’ fees;

d. Pay the sum of $250,000 to the Chapter 11 Trustee in lieu of forfeiture of the
Cape Delabra Property, ot in the event that Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler are
unable to make payment of $250,000 within 30 days (or by such later time as
agreed to by all Parties, in writing), Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler agree that the
United States shall (i) forfeit the Cape Delabra Property, (ii) liquidate the Cape
Delabra Property, (iii) retain from the net proceeds of the sale a total of $250,000,
and (iv) return any remaining net sale proceeds to Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler
less any debt owed to the United States or any agency of the United States, or any
debt that the United States is authorized to collect from Fabio and Claudia
Wanzeler.

29. If the Bankruptcy Court grants the motion described in Paragraph 4 above, then

the United States shall:

a. Upon execution of the deed by Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler transferring
ownership of the San Mellina Drive Property to the Chapter 11 Trustee, file a
motion with the District Court to vacate the Preliminary Order of Forfeiture as to
the San Mellina Drive Property;

b. Upon execution of the deed by Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler transferring
ownership of the San Mellina Drive Property to the Chapter 11 Trustee provide
the Chapter 11 Trustee a release of lis pendens against the San Mellina Drive
Property;
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Upon payment of the $250,000 by Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler to the Chapter 11
Trustee, file a notice with the District Court that in lieu of forfeiture of the Cape
Delabra Property, $250,000 has been paid to the Chapter 11 Trustee toward
restitution in the criminal matter, and shall further request that the District Court
vacate the Preliminary Order of Forfeiture as to the Cape Delabra Property;

Upon failure of Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler to make payment of $250,000 to the
United States in accordance with the terms of this Settlement Agreement, file a
motion with the District Court for a final order of forfeiture for the Cape Delabra
Property, which further orders the United States to (i) liquidate the Cape Delabra
Property, (ii) retain from the net proceeds of the sale a total of $250,000, and (iii)
return any remaining net sale proceeds to Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler less any
debt owed to the United States or any agency of the United States, or any debt
that the United States is authorized to collect from Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler.

If the Bankruptcy Court grants this motion, then the Chapter 11 Trustee shall:

Record the executed deed transferring ownership of the San Mellina Drive
Property to the Chapter 11 Trustee, and record the release of lis pendens executed
by the United States as to the San Mellina Drive Property;

Liquidate the San Mellina Drive Property, and utilize all net proceeds from the
sale of the property to pay allowed administrative expenses of the Trustee and his
professionals and to pay the allowed claims of victims;

After receipt of the $250,000 payment in lieu of forfeiture of the Cape Delabra
Property, pay the funds to victims in accordance with the terms of the Restitution

Order entered in the above-captioned criminal case.

The Parties agree that the settlement of this matter upon the terms and conditions

set forth herein is in full, final, and complete satisfaction of any and all claims arising out of the

forfeiture proceeding as to the San Mellina Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property, and of

the claims asserted against Fabio Wanzeler in the Adversary Proceedings.
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32; The Wanzelers unconditionally release, indemnify, and hold harmless the United
States, and its officers, agents, employees, and representatives, both past and present, including,
but not limited to, the United States Department of Justice, the United States Attorney’s Office
and Department of Homeland Security, including Homeland Security Investigations, as well as
any state, county, or local law enforcement agencies whose personnel assisted in the forfeiture
proceedings against the San Mellina Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property, from any and
all claims, demands, damages, causes of actions or suits, of whatever kind and/or description and
wheresoever situated, which might now or ever exist by reason of, or gfow out of or affect,
directly or indirectly, the seizure, restraint, and forfeiture proceedings against the San Mellina
Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property or the provisions of the instant Agreement.

33k The Wanzelers unconditionally release and waive any claims they may have
against the Chapter 11 Trustee or the bankruptcy estates of TelexFree.

34. The Wanzelers unconditionally release, indemnity, and hold harmless the Chapter
11 Trustee and his agents, employees, and representatives, both past and present, from any and all
claims, demands, damages, causes of actions or suits, of whatever kind and/or description and
wheresoever situated, which might now or ever exist by reason of, or grow out of or affect,
directly or indirectly, the San Mellina Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property or the

provisions of the Stipulation.

Basis for Approval of Stipulation

35 Bankruptcy Rule 9019(a) provides, in relevant part, that “On the motion by the
trustee and after notice and a hearing, the court may approve a compromise or settlement.”
Settlements and compromises are normal parts of the process of reorganization. While the

decision to approve a particular settlement lies within the sound discretion of the Bankruptcy
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Court, the Court should give some deference to the business judgment of the estate representative.
Jeffrey v. Desmond, 70 F.3d 183 (1st Cir. 1995).
36. The Court of Appeals has described the test to be used by Bankruptcy Courts
called upon to approve or reject proposed compromises and settlements as follows:
The bankruptcy judge has the authority to approve a compromise of a claim pursuant to
Bankruptcy Rule 9019(a). The ultimate issue on appeal is whether the bankruptcy court
abused its discretion when it approved the compromise, which is a process requiring the
bankruptcy court to “assess and balance the value of the claim that is being compromised
against the value to the estate of the acceptance of the compromise proposal.” In re GHR
Cos., 50 B.R. 925, 931 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1985) (quoting In re Boston & Providence R.R.,
673 F.2d. 11, 12 (1st Cir. 1982)). The specific factors which a bankruptcy court considers
when making this determination include: (i) the probability of success in the litigation
being compromised; (ii) the difficulties, if any, to be encountered in the matter of
collection; (iii) the complexity of the litigation involved, and the expense, inconvenience
and delay attending it; and (iv) the paramount interest of the creditors and a proper
deference to their reasonable views in the premise. In re Anolik, 107 B.R. 427, 429 (D.
Mass. 1989).
Jeffrey v. Desmond, 70 F.3d 183, 185 (Ist Cir. 1995).
oy 8 In determining whether the proposed settlement is fair and equitable, two
principles should guide the court. First, “[cJompromises are favored in bankrupteyl.]”
10 Lawrence P. King, Collier on Bankruptcy, 1 9019.01, at 9019-2 (15th ed. Rev. 1997) (citing
Marandas v. Bishop (In re Sassales), 160 B.R. 646, 653 (D. Ore. 1993)). Seealsolnre A & C
Properties, 784 F.2d 1377, 1381 (9th Cir. 1986) (“The law favors compromise and not
litigation[.]””). Second, settlements should be approved if they fall above the lowest point on the
continuum of reasonableness. “[The] responsibility of the bankruptcy judge . . . is not to decide
the numerous questions of law and fact raised . . . but rather to canvass the issues and see
whether the settlement fall[s] below the lowest point in the range of reasonableness.” Cosoff v.

Rodman (In re W.T. Grant Co.), 699 F.2d 599, 608 (2nd Cir. 1983); In re Planned Protective

Services, Inc., 130 B.R. 94, 99 n.7 (Bankr. C.D. Cal. 1991). Thus, the question is not whether a

11
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better settlement might have been achieved, or a better result reached if litigation pursued.
Instead, the court should approve settlements that meet a minimal threshold of reasonableness.
Nellis v. Shugrue, 165 B.R. 115, 123 (S.D.N.Y. 1994); 10 Collier on Bankruptcy, § 9019.02, at
9019-4.

38. The Chapter 11 Trustee asserts that the Stipulation is fair and reasonable and
should be approved by the Court. Both of the Florida Properties were subject to the forfeiture
proceedings of the United States. Under the Stipulation, the San Mellina Drive Property, which is
believed to have a value in the range of $500,000 and which upon information and belief is
unencumbered, will be deeded to the Chapter 11 Trustee so that it can be sold and the proceeds
used to satisfy administrative expenses of the Chapter 11 Trustee and his professionals and
allowed claims of Participants. The United States is expected to recover $250,000 from the
refinance of the Cape Delabra Property, which funds will be made available for payment to
Participants. The aggregate recovery from the Wanzelers, therefore, under the Stipulation is
projected to be up to $700,000 or more. These amounts equal or exceed the aggregate net
winnings obtained by Fabio from involvement in the TelexFree scheme, according to the books
and records of TelexFree.

3 The Cape Delabra Property was appraised at $475,000 in June 2018. Any equity
retained by the Wanzelers above the $250,000 to be paid as a result of the forfeiture proceedings
is in consideration of claims by the Wanzelers that the Florida Properties, at least in part, were
purchased with assets not derived from TelexFree and are not subject to forfeiture.

40. The Wanzelers provided a financial statement to the United States in connection

with the settlement discussions. Based upon the financial statement, it appears that any assets of

12
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the Wanzelers other than the Florida Properties consist principally of personal property that is not

meaningful in value in the context of this settlement.

41. Under the circumstances, the Trustee has concluded that the settlement is favorable

to the estates and should be approved.
WHEREFORE, the Trustee prays that this Court:
1. Approve the Stipulation for the reasons set forth; and

2. Grant such other relief as is just and proper.

STEPHEN DARR, TRUSTEE OF THE
CHAPTER 11 ESTATES OF EACH OF
THE DEBTORS

By his attorneys,

/s/ Andrew G. Lizotte

Harold B. Murphy (BBO #362610)
Andrew G. Lizotte (BBO #559609)
Murphy & King, Professional Corporation
One Beacon Street

Boston, MA 02108

(617) 423-0400
ALizotte@murphyking.com

Dated: November 5, 2018
749657

13
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EXHIBIT A
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
)

v. ) Criminal No. 14-40028-TSH
)
JAMES MERRILL, )
Defendant )
)
FABIO WANZELER, )
Claimant )

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The United States of America, by its attomey, Andrew E. Lelling, United States Attorney
for the District of Massachusetts (“United States™), and claimant Fabio Wanzeler (the
“Claimant”) and his wife, Claudia Wanzeler, and Stephen Darr, Bankruptcy Trustee for the
Estates of TelexFree, LLC, TelexFree, Inc., and TelexFree Financial, Inc. pending in the United
States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Massachusetts (the “Bankruptcy Court”) in jointly
administered cases Case No. 14-40987 et al. (the “Chapter 11 Trustee” and, collectively, the
“Parties™), set forth the following:

The Criminal Forfeiture Action

WHEREAS, on September 8, 2016, a federal grand jury sitting in the District of
Massachusetts returned a seventeen-count First Superseding Indictment charging James Merrill
and Carlos Wanzeler, with Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud, in violation of 18 U.8.C. § 1349
(Count One); Wire Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (Counts Two through Nine); and
Engaging in Monetary T ransactions in Property Derived from Specified Unlawful Activity, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1957(a) and 2 (Counts Ten through Seventeen);

WHEREAS, the First Superseding Indictment contained a Forfeiture Allegation, which

gave the defendants notice that the United States sought forfeiture, pursuant to 18 1:5:C.
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§ 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c), upon conviction of one or more of the offenses charged in
Counts One through Nine of the First Superseding Indictment, of any property, real or personal,
that constitutes, or is derived from, proceeds fraceable to the commission of the offenses;

WHEREAS, in addition, the First Superseding Indictment contained a Money Laundering
Forfeiture Allegation, which gave the defendants notice that the United States sought forfeiture,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(1), upon conviction of one or more of the offenses alleged in
Counts Ten through Seventeen of the First Superseding Indictment, of any property, real or
personal, involved in the offenses, and any property traceable to such property;

WHEREAS, on October 24, 2016, ata hearing pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal Rules
of Criminal Procedure, defendant James Merrill (“Merrill”) pled guilty to Counts One through
Nine of the First Superseding Indictment, pursuant to a written plea agreement signed by Merrill
on October 24, 2016;!

WHEREAS, in Section 8 of the written plea agreement, Merrill agreed to the forfeiture of
the assets listed in Exhibit A to the plea agreement, which included the following two real
properties:

L the real property located at 4506 San Mellina Drive, Coconut Creek, Florida,

including all buildings, appurtenances, and improvements thereon, more fully
described in a Special Warranty Deed, recorded on December 3, 2013, with the

Broward County Registry of Deeds, book 50374, page 223 (the “San Mellina
Drive Property™);

3 the real property located at 10556 Cape Delabra Ct., Boynton Beach, Florida,
described as Lot 271, Trails at Canyon — Plat Four, according to the plat thereof,
as recorded in Plat Book 115, at Page 1, of the public records of Palm Beach
County, Florida, more fully described in a Warranty Deed recorded on February
27, 2014, with the Palm Beach County Registry of Deeds, Book 26635, Page

1345 (the “Cape Delabra Property™);

| The United States agreed to dismiss Counts Ten through Seventeen of the First Superseding

Indictment following the Court’s imposition of Merrill’s sentence.
2
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WHEREAS, in addition, Merrill admitted that the assets listed in Exhibit A to the plea
agreement, including the San Mellina Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property, are subject
to forfeiture on the grounds that they are property, real or personal, that constituted, or were
derived from, proceeds traceable to the commission of the offenses charged in Counts One
through Nine of the First Superseding Indictment, and Merrill consented to the entry of an order
of forfeiture against such property;

WHEREAS, on March 21, 2017, the U nited States filed an Assented-To Motion for
Preliminary Order of Forfeiture seeking forfeiture of numerous assets, including the San Mellina
Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property;

WHEREAS, on March 22, 2017, the Court granted the Motion for Preliminary Order of
Forfeiture;

WIEREAS, on March 22, 2017, the Court sentenced Merrill to 72 months imprisonment
and three years’ supervised release;

WHEREAS, on July 11, 2017, the Court entered a Restitution Order against Merrill, which
provided that based upon the complexity and volume of restitution payments to victims in this
case, the Chapter 11 Trustee in the related Chapter 11 cases for the TelexFree entities shall
administer and pay restitution to victims (the “Restitution Order™);

WHEREAS, notice of the Preliminary Order of Forfeiture was sent to all interested parties
and published on the government website www. forfeiture.gov for thirty (30) consecutive calendar
days, beginning on May 16, 2017, and ending on June 14, 2017, and also beginning on June 16,
2017, and ending on July 15,2017,

WHEREAS, on July 25, 2017, Fabio Wanzler filed verified claims asserting an interest in

the San Mellina Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property;
3
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WHEREAS, as of this date, no other party has filed a petition claiming an interest in the
San Mellina Drive Property or the Cape Delabra Property, and the time within which to do so has
expired;

The Adversary Proceeding in the TelexFree Bankruptcy

WHEREAS, the Chapter 11 Trustee has asserted that Claimant was a net winner in the
Ponzi scheme operated by the TelexFree entities in the approximate amount of $630,000;

WHEREAS, the Chapter 11 Trustee commenced a class action against all net winners
located in the United States in adversary proceeding number 16-4006 pending in the Bankruptey
Court (the “Class Action™);

WHEREAS, the Claimant is also a defendant in adversary proceeding number 16-4032
commenced by the Chapter 11 Trustee in the Bankruptcy Court (the “Insider Action” and,
together with the Class Action, the “Adversary Proceedings™);

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to reach a full and final settlement regarding the San
Mellina Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property and the Adversary Proceeding;

WHEREAS, the Parties acknowledge that this Settlement Agreement does not constitute
an admission by Claimant or Claudia Wanzeler of any facts or liability or wrongdoing, and
Claimant and Claudia Wanzeler assert that they are innocent owners or, or bona fide purchasers
for value of, the San Mellina Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property.

NOW THEREFORE, it is stipulated and agreed by and between the undersigned parties
as follows:

1. Upon execution by the Parties, this Settlement Agreement (“Agreement”) shall be
filed with the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts (the “District
Court”). The District Court and the Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction to enforce the

4
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provisions of this Agreement.

s Upon execution of the Seitlement Agreement by the Parties, the United States
shall file an assented-to motion to modify the restraining order entered against the San Mellina
Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property to allow the following:

a. Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler shall execute a deed transferring ownership
of the San Mellina Drive Property to the Chapter 11 Trustee; and

b. Fabio and Claudia Wanzler shall obtain a mortgage against the Cape
Delabra Property for a net payment by the lender of $250,000, which funds shall be paid to the
Chapter 11 Trustee, in lieu of forfeiture of the Cape Delabra Property.

3. The United States shall also execute a release of the lis pendens against the Cape
Delabra Property and shall provide the original of the release of lis pendens to Fabio and Claudia
Wanzeler at the closing of any mortgage against the Cape Delabra Property, as contemplated in
Paragraph 2.b above.

4, Upon modification of the Restraining Order, the Chapter 11 Trustee shall file a
motion in the Adversary Proceedings requesting that the Court approve a compromise of the

claims asserted against Fabio Wanzeler in the Adversary Proceedings on the terms outlined in

this Settlement Agreement.

* If the Bankruptcy Court denies the motion described in Paragraph 4 above, this
Settlement Agreement shall be null and void.
6. If the Bankruptcy Court grants the motion described in Paragraph 4 above, then

within 30 days after the date of the Bankruptcy Court’s order granting the motion, Fabio and

Claudia Wanzeler shall:

a. Execute and deliver to the Chapter 11 Trustee the deed attached hereto as

5
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Exhibit 1, transferring ownership of the San Mellina Drive Property to the Chapter 11 Trustee for
sale,

b. Release and waive any right, claim, interest, or exemption in the San
Mellina Drive Property.

& Vacate the San Mellina Drive Property and turn possession of the San
Mellina Drive Property over to the Chapter 11 Trustee within ten days of Bankruptcy Court
approval of this Settlement Agreement (the “Vacancy Date”), leaving the property undamaged
and free of personal effects, and shall cause any other party to vacate the property. On and after
the Vacancy Date, the Chapter 11 Trustee may take any and all actions required to market and
sell the San Mellina Drive Property for the benefit of the TelexFree estates. In the event that
Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler or another may fail to timely vacate the property, the Chapter 11
Trustee may take all steps reasonably required to remove the occupants, and Fabio and Claudia
Wanzeler shall be liable to the Chapter 11 Trustee for the costs and expenses associated
therewith, including attorneys’ fees;

d. Pay the sum of $250,000 to the Chapter 11 Trustee in lieu of forfeiture of
the Cape Delabra Property, or in the event that Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler are unable to make
payment of $250,000 within 30 days (or by such later time as agreed to by all Parties, in writing),
Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler agree that the United States shall (i) forfeit the Cape Delabra
Property, (ii) liquidate the Cape Delabra Property, (iii) retain from the net proceeds of the sale a
total of $250,000, and (iv) return any remaining net sale proceeds to Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler
less any debt owed to the United States or any agency of the United States, or any debt that the
United States is authorized to collect from Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler.

7. If the Bankruptcy Court grants the motion described in Paragraph 4 above, then

6
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the United States shall:

a. Upon execution of the deed by Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler transferring
ownership of the San Mellina Drive Property to the Chapter 11 Trustee, file a motion with the
District Court to vacate the Preliminary Order of Forfeiture as to the San Mellina Drive Property;

b Upon execution of the deed by Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler transferring
ownership of the San Mellina Drive Property to the Chapter 11 Trustee provide the Chapter 11
Trustee a release of lis pendens against the San Mellina Drive Property;

G Upon payment of the $250,000 by Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler to the
Chapter 11 Trustee, file a notice with the District Court that in lieu of forfeiture of the Cape
Delabra Property, $250,000 has been paid to the Chapter 11 Trustee toward restitution in this
criminal matter, and shall further request that the District Court vacate the Preliminary Order of
Forfeiture as to the Cape Delabra Property;

d. Upon failure of Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler to make payment of
$250,000 to the United States in accordance with the terms of this Settlement Agreement, file a
motion with the District Court for a final order of forfeiture for the Cape Delabra Property,
which further orders the United States to (i) liquidate the Cape Delabra Property, (ii) retain from
the net proceeds of the sale a total of $250,000, and (iii) return any remaining net sale proceeds
to Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler less any debt owed to the United States or any agency of the
United States, or any debt that the United States is authorized to collect from Fabio and Claudia

Wanzeler.

8. If the Bankruptcy Court grants the motion described in Paragraph 4 above, then

the Chapter 11 Trustee shall:

a. Record the exccuted deed transferring ownership of the San Mellina Drive

7
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Property to the Chapter 11 Trustee, and record the release of lis pendens executed by the United
States as to the San Mellina Drive Property;

b. Liquidate the San Mellina Drive Property, and utilize all net proceeds
from the sale of the property to pay allowed administrative expenses of the Trustee and his
professionals and to pay the allowed claims of victims;

G After receipt of the $250,000 payment in lieu of forfeiture of the Cape
Delabra Property, pay the funds to victims in accordance with the terms of the Restitution Order
entered in the above-captioned criminal case.

9. The Parties agree that the settlement of this matter upon the terms and conditions
set forth herein is in full, final, and complete satisfaction of any and all claims arising out of the
forfeiture proceeding as to the San Mellina Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property, and out
of the claims asserted against Fabio Wanzler in the Adversary Proceedings.

10.  Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler unconditionally release, indemnify, and hold harmless
the United States, and its officers, agents, employees, and representatives, both past and present,
including, but not limited to, the United States Department of Justice, the United States Attorney=s
Office and Department of Homeland Security, including Homeland Security Investigations, as well
as any state, county, or local law enforcement agencies whose personnel assisted in the forfeiture
proceedings against the San Mellina Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property, from any and
all claims, demands, damages, causes of actions or suits, of whatever kind and/or description and
wheresoever situated, which might now or ever exist by reason of, or grow out of or affect, directly
or indirectly, the seizure, restraint, and forfeiture proceedings against the San Mellina Drive
Property and the Cape Delabra Property or the provisions of the instant Agreement.

11.  Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler unconditionally release and waive any claims they

8
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may have against the Chapter 11 Trustee or the bankruptcy estates of TelexFree.

12.  Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler unconditionally release, indemnity, and hold harmless
the Chapter 11 Trustee and his agents, employees, and representatives, both past and present, from
any and all claims, demands, damages, causes of actions or suits, of whatever kind and/or
description and wheresoever situated, which might now or ever exist by reason of, or grow out of
or affect, directly or indirectly, the San Mellina Drive Property and the Cape Delabra Property or
the provisions of the instant Agreement.

13.  All rights of appeal are hereby waived by the Parties. Except as otherwise
provided in this Agreement, each party shall bear its own fees, including attorneys’ fees and
other expenses, incurred by it in connection with any of the proceedings pertaining directly or
indirectly to this forfeiture action.

14.  Fabio and Claudia Wanzeler agree that nothing in this Settlement Agreement shall
be construed to satisfy or offset any tax liability or any other debt owed to the United States by
them.

15.  Claimant hereby acknowledges that he is, and has been, represented by competent
counsel in connection with the negotiation of this Agreement, that the provisions of this Agreement
and the legal effects thereof have been explained to him, and that he is entering into this Agreement
freely and voluntarily, without coercion, duress, or undue influence.

16. Claudia Wanzeler acknowledges that she understands the provisions of this
Agreement and the legal effects thereof, and that she is entering into this Agreement freely and

voluntarily, without coercion, duress, or undue influence.

17.  This agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which

O
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when executed and delivered shall constitute a duplicate original, but ail counterparts together

shall constitute a single agreement.

10
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STEPHEN B, DARR,

CHAPTER 11 TRUSTEE OF
TELEXFREE, LLC,
TELEXFREE, INC., TELEXFREE

FINANCIAL, INC,,
By:

By counsel:

M/ﬂﬂ/ 2 '-,)’%
HAROLD 8. MURPHY (BRO #362610)
ANDREW G. LIZOTTE (BBO #559600)
Murphy & King, P. C.

One Beacon Stroet
Baston,-MA 02108
(617) 423-0400

Dated: __'_0.[‘)’__'1_/!‘2

FABIO WANZELER,
by his atterney,

Gz, G SR~

GEOFFREY G. NATHAN
Nathan Law Offices
132 Boylston Street
SthFloor

Boston, MA 02116
617-472-5775

11

ANDREW E LELLING,

United States Antorney,

MAILY B MIIRRANE, BRO #644448
mary.murrane@usdoj.gov

Assistant United States Atrorney
United States Attorney's Office

1 Courthouse Way, Suite 9200
Boston, MA 02210

{617) 748-3100

Dated: LU [ f/’l“‘

FABIO WANZELER,
individually,

F - i
J} _ Galge Wanede”

Dated; ,,\0/ i 8/,1 8

CLAUDIA WANZELER,
individually,

7
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Prepared by:
Robert E. Richards, Jr.

Murphy & King, P.C.
One Beacon Street
Boston, MA 02108

QUIT CLAIM DEED

This Quit Claim Deed, dated this day of , 2018.

By and between: Fabio N. Wanzeler and Claudia Caires-Wanzeler, hereinafter referred to
collectively as Grantor, whose mailing address is 4506 San Mellina Drive, Coconut Creek, Florida
33073 and Stephen Darr, as Chapter 11 Trustee of Telexfree, LLC, Telexfree, Inc. and Telexfree
Financial, Inc., as Grantee, whose mailing address is ¢/o Murphy & King, P.C., One Beacon Street,
21% Floor, Boston, MA 02108.

Witnesseth, that the said Grantor, for and in consideration of the sum of One Dollar ($1.00), the
receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, does hereby remise, release and quit claim unto the said
Grantee forever, all the right, title, interest, claim and demand which the said Grantor has in and to the
following described lot, piece or parcel of land, situate, lying and being in the County of Broward,
State of Florida and all improvements thereon, to-wit:

Parcel ID Number: 484217-10-0010 Location at 4506 San Mellina Drive, Coconut Creek, Broward
County, Florida 33073.

Lot 1 of San Mellina, according to the Plat thereof recorded in Plat Book 176 Page 44, of the
public records of Broward County Florida.

To Have and To Hold, the same together with all and singular the appurtenances thereunto
belonging or in anywise appertaining, and all the estate, right, title, interest, lien, equity and claim
whatsoever of the said Grantor, either in law or equity, to the use, benefit and behalf of the said
Grantee forever.

In Witness Whereof, the said Grantor has signed and sealed these presents the day and year
first above written.

Signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of:

Witness #1: Signature Fabio N. Wanzeler
Name:

Witness #2: Signature
Name:

749773
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Signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of:

Desc Main

Witness #1: Signature Claudia Caires-Wanzeler
Name:

Witness #2: Signature
Name:

STATE OF: Florida COUNTY OF:

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ___ day of ;

2017 by Fabio N. Wanzeler whom is personaily known to me or has produced

as

identification.

NOTARY PUBLIC
Expiration Date:

STATE OF: Florida COUNTY OF:

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of .

2017 by Claudia Caires-Wanzeler who is personally known to me or has produced

as

identification.

NOTARY PUBLIC
Expiration Date:

749773
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

Inre:

TELEXFREE, LLC,
TELEXFREE, INC. and
TELEXFREE FINANCIAL, INC.,

Debtors.

STEPHEN DARR, AS HE IS THE TRUSTEE
OF THE CHAPTER 11 ESTATES OF EACH
OF THE DEBTORS,

Plaintiff,

V.

CARLOS WANZELER, JAMES MERRILL,
CARLOS COSTA, PRISCILA FREITAS
COSTA, FABIO WANZELER, LYVIA MARA
CAMPISTA WANZELER, MARIA
EDUARDA WANZELER DE ALMEIDA E
SOUZA, DRUCILA WANZELER, MARISA
MACHADO WANZELER SALGADO,
RENATO ALVES, ANA COSTA, NATHANA
SANTOS REIS, FABIO FARIA, LELIO
CELSO RAMIRES FARIAS, SANDERLY
RODRIGUES, VAGNER ROZA, ROBERT
BOURGUIGNON, REGINA CELIA
MANHAES DA ROZA REGINA CELIA,
MICHAEL CALAZANS, FABIO DE ARRAZ
CRISPIM, SHEFFA MONTOYA, LUIS
FERREIRA, SANDRES LEVIS, FEBE
WANZELER DE ALMEIDA E SOUZA,
BRUNO RANGEL CARDOZO,

Defendants.

Chapter 11 Cases
14-40987-MSH
14-40988-MSH
14-40989-MSH

Jointly Administered

Adversary Proceeding
No. 16-4032

Desc Main
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STEPHEN B. DARR AS HE IS TRUSTEE OF
THE CHAPTER 11 ESTATES OF
TELEXFREE, LLC, TELEXFREE, INC. AND
TELEXFREE FINANCIAL, INC.,,

Adversary Proceeding
Plaintiff, No. 16-4006

V.
BENJAMIN ARGUETA, ET AL.

Defendants(s).

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Andrew G. Lizotte, hereby certify that I have this day caused to be served a copy of the
following document:

o Motion by Trustee to Approve Stipulation of Settlement Among United States of
America, Chapter 11 Trustee and Fabio Wanzeler and Claudia Wanzeler

via this Court’s CM/ECF System, by electronic mail, and First Class Mail, postage prepaid as
indicated to the service list below.

/s/ Andrew G. Lizotte

Andrew G. Lizotte (BBO #559609)
Murphy & King Professional Corporation
One Beacon Street

Boston, MA 02108

(617) 423-0400
ALizotte(@murphyking.com

DATED: November 5, 2018
750111
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Telexfree, LLC
Short Service List
#670980

BY ECF:

William R. Baldiga wbaldiga@brownrudnick.com

Charles R. Bennett  cbennett@murphyking.com,
bankruptcy@murphyking.com;imccormack@murphyking.com;amaciver@murphyking.c
om;dmeyer@murphyking.com

Kendra Berardi  kberardi@rc.com, mjewell@rc.com

Deena R. Bernstein ~ bernsteind@sec.gov, #brodocket@sec.gov

Roger Bertling  roger@bertlinglaw.com, rbertlin@law.harvard.edu

Robert J. Bonsignore  rbonsignore@class-actions.us, jnewlon@class-actions.us
C. Elizabeth Brady Murillo  emurillo@burnslev.com

Alan L. Braunstein ~ abraunstein@riemerlaw.com, ahall@riemerlaw.com

Andrea G. Brier  abrier@murphyking.com, asavoia@murphyking.com;andrea-brier-
7162@ect.pacerpro.com

Douglas Brooks  dbrooks@libbyhoopes.com

Orestes G. Brown obrown@metaxasbrown.com

Evans J. Carter  ejcattyl@verizon.net

Brian Casaceli  bcasaceli@mirickoconnell.com

John Commisso john.commisso@jacksonlewis.com,
ann.macdonald@jacksonlewis.com

Christopher M. Condon  cmc@murphyking.com, imccormack@murphyking.com
Jonathan Crafts  jcrafts@dwyer-llc.com

Gary W. Cruickshank  gwc@cruickshank-law.com

Edward Dangel tdangel@dangeldwyer-llc.com

Ronald A. Dardeno  rdardeno@dardeno.com

Joseph P. Davis  davisjo@gtlaw.com, ponsettoj@gtlaw.com

Christine E. Devine  cdevine@mirickoconnell.com, bankrupt@mirickoconnell.com
Adam K. Doerr  adoerr@rbh.com,
akelly@robinsonbradshaw.com,fbarringer@robinsonbradshaw.com

Martin B. Dropkin  nmatza@hotmail.com,
nastor@dropkinmatza.com;mdropkin@dropkinmatza.com

Daniel Dullea  scott@goldberganddullea.com

James P. Ehrhard  ehrhard@ehrhardlaw.com, cote@ehrhardlaw.com

John C. Elstad  jelstad@verrilldana.com

Kate P. Foley  kfoley@mirickoconnell.com

Robert W. Fuller rfuller@rbh.com

Andrew J. Gallo  andrew.gallo@bingham.com, brian.katz@morganlewis.com
Stuart M. Glass  sglass@choate.com

Valentin D. Gurvits  vgurvits@bostonlawgroup.com

William J. Hanlon ~ whanlon@seyfarth.com, bosdocket@seyfarth.com

Carol E Head  carol.head@morganlewis.com
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Lawrence P. Heffernan  lheffernan@rc.com, kberardi@re.com

Nellie E Hestin  nhestin@mcguirewoods.com,
mkrizan@mcguirewoods.com;aauld@mcguirewoods.com;kdevyver@mcguirewoods.co
m

Jonathan Horne  jhorne@murthalaw.com, Imulvehill@murthalaw.com
Franklin C. Huntington  huntingtonf@sec.gov

Walter W. Jabs  Lawofficeswalterjabs@gmail.com

Vernon C. Jolley  jolleylaw@comcast.net

Paul V. Kelly paul .kelly@jacksonlewis.com

Nicholas R. Kennedy  nkennedy@mcguirewoods.com,
bsieg@mcguirewoods.com;khosmer@mcguirewoods.com

Richard King USTPRegion01.WO.ECF@USDOJ.GOV

Richard T. King richard.t.king@usdoj.gov

Andrew G. Lizotte  agl@murphyking.com,
bankruptcy@murphyking.com;pas@murphyking.com;ddk@murphyking.com;agl@murp
hyking.com

Michael Lobie  Michael.p.Lobie@usdoj.gov, Northern. Taxcivil@usdoj.gov
Danielle Andrews Long  dlong@rc.com, jsantiago@rc.com

Michael M. McArdle mike@mcardlelaw.com, morgan@mcardlelaw.com

S. Elaine McChesney  Elaine.mcchesney@bingham.com

Wendy M. Mead  wendymeadpc@verizon.net

Carl .. Moore  carl.l.moore@usdoj.gov, northern.taxcivil@usdoj.gov
Francis C. Morrissey  fcm@mwzllp.com

Harold B. Murphy  bankruptcy@murphyking.com, dkonusevska@murphyking.com
Michael K. O'Neil  moneil@murphyking.com, dkonusevska@murphyking.com
F. Anthony Paganelli tony@paganelligroup.com

Carmenelisa Perez-Kudzma carmenelisa@pklolaw.com, evan@pklolaw.comi
James Radke jradke@murthalaw.com, Imulvehill@murthalaw.com

David P Reiner Il dpr@reinerslaw.com, eservice@reinerslaw.com

Ian D. Roffman  iroffman@nutter.com,
epleadings@nutter.com;cfeldman@nutter.com;kcannizzaro@nutter.com

Ilyas J. Rona ijr@mrdklaw.com, gnc@mrdklaw.com,kae@mrdklaw.com
Mark C. Rossi  bostonian.ecf@gmail.com,
esher.rossiecf2@gmail.com;r44913@notify.bestcase.com

Paul S. Samson psamson@riemerlaw.com, ahall@riemerlaw.com

Kenneth I. Schacter  kenneth.schacter@bingham.com

Hilary Schultz  hschultz@engelschultz.com

Ari M. Selman  ari.selman@bingham.com

Jordan L. Shapiro JSLAWMA@aol.com

Matthew Shayefar —matt@bostonlawgroup.com

Monica Snyder msnyder@murthalaw.com, jbabula@murthalaw.com

Lisa D. Tingue lisa.d.tingue@usdoj.gov

Joseph Toomey jtoomey@nutter.com

Thomas S. Vangel tvangel@murthalaw.com
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e Sarah W. Walsh
¢ Elton Watkins
e Jason C. Weida

sarah.walsh@jacksonlewis.com
watkinslaw@comcast.net
Jason.weida@usdoj.gov

By Electronic Mail: Top 30

Joselia Sangali
Leonardo Francisco
DL1, Inc.

Renato Alves
Benjamin Argueta
Marco Almeida

IMC, Inc.

Edwin HM Lima
David Martinez

Paola Zollo Alecci
Robert Bourguignon
Carla Peres

Pedro Taveras
Nathana Santos Reis
Jose Anominondas
Vagner Roza
Norberto Rey

Jose Carlos Maciel
Bruno Graziani
Renato Ribeiro
Marcelino Salazar Bacilio
Edison O.J. Aleman
Roman Mishuk

Rosa M.C. Souto

Du Painting

Graca Luisa Andrade
Paulo Francisco da Silva
Leone da Silva Santos

David Fine, Esq.
Craig Dunlap, Esq.
Opt3 Solutions, Inc.

Mary Murrane, Esq.

jozelia miriam@hotmail.com

leocaul@hotmail.com
davidbeeba@gmail.com
renato.alves.88@hotmail.com
benjamin Gauchao@yahoo.com
marcobrum53@hotmail.com
marcosclubflorida@gmail.com
aldemar.neto@ac.gov.br
dmj500@charter.net
paolazollo3@gmail.com
flavioarraz(@gmail.com
carlagperes@outlook.com
pte59@hotmail.com
nathanasreis@gmail.com
wiempreendimentos@icloud.com
vagnerflamengo2009@hotmail.com
revtrucking(@yahoo.com
jicmkkeb@hotmail.com

graziani8926(@gmail.com

renatousa05@gmail.com
marcelino@sb@outlook.com
oswaldojuradoaleman@gmail.com

mishuknew(@gmail.com

telexfree.r@hotmail.com
edpnegocios@hotmail.com
projectosfx@gmail.com

avpaulo 207@hotmail.com
araujommn(@gmail.com

dfine@kslaw.com
cdunlap@fclaw.com, tnealon@fclaw.com

infor@opt3.com

mary.murrange(@usdo.gov

Desc Main
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BY ELECTRONIC MAIL: APPEARANCES

Thuoma Igboanugo (for Maduako C. Ferguson, Sr. et al)
The Crescent Law Practice

P.O. Box 41333

Raleigh, NC 27692

919-389-6963

thecrescentlaw(@gmail.com

Timothy S. Cory (for Ismail Karatekin) and (for Leonardo Barros Pereira)
Durham Jones & Pinegar

10785 W. Twain Ave., Ste 200

Las Vegas, NV 89135

(702) 870-6060

(702) 870-6090 (fax)

tcory@djplaw.com

D. Michael Noonan, Esq. (for Plaintiffs’ Interim Executive Committee)
Shaheen & Gordon PA

140 Washington Street

Dover NH 03821

mnoonan@shaheengordon.com

R. Alexander Saveri, Esq. (for Plaintiffs’ Interim Executive Committee)
Saveri & Saveri, Inc.

706 Sansome St.

San Francisco CA 94111

rick(@saveri.com

William L. Coulthard, Esq. (for Plaintiffs’ Interim Executive Committee)
Kemp Jones & Coulthard, LLP

Wells Fargo Tower

3800 Howard Hughes Parkway

17" Floor

Las Vegas NV 89169

w.coulthard@kempjones.com

Neil Gallagher
USAMA
Neil.Gallagher@usdoj.gov

Joshua Dennis, Esq.
StoneTurn Group, LLP
75 State Street, Suite 902
Boston MA 02109
idennis@stoneturn.com
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BY FIRST CLASS MAIL: APPEARANCES

Maria J. Diconza, Esq., Nancy A. Mitchell, Esq.
& Matthew Hinker, Esq.

Greenberg Traurig, Llp

Metlife Building

200 Park Ave

New York, NY 10166

Thomas H. Fell, Esq., Gregory Garman, Esq.

Gordon Silver
410 S. Rampart Blvd., Suite 420
Las Vegas NV 89145-5749

Evan J. Gershbein & Drake D. Foster
Kurtzman Carson Consultants LL.C
2335 Alaska Avenue

El Segundo, CA 90245

Porter Gordon Silver Communications
410 S. Rampart Blvd. Suite 420
Las Vegas, NV 89145-5749

Roger W Wenthe

United States Attorney

333 Las Vegas Blvd So, #5000
Las Vegas, Nv 89101

Internal Revenue Service

Special Procedures Function

STOP 2080, P.O. Box 9112

25 New Sudbury St., JFK Federal Bldg.
Boston MA 02203

Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, N.E.
Washington DC 20549

Stephen Darr

Huron Consulting Services, LLC
100 High Street, 23" Floor
Boston MA 02110

Richard F. Holley, Esq.
400 S. Fourth St., 3rd Floor
Las Vegas, NV 89101

Sandra W. Lavigna

U. S. Securities And Exchange Comm.
5670 Wilshire Blvd, 11th Flr

Los Angeles, CA 90036

David L. Neale, Esq.

Levene, Neale, Bender, Yoo & Brill Llp
10250 Constellation Blvd., Suite 1700
Los Angeles, Ca 90067

Securities and Exchange Commission
Boston District Office

33 Arch Street, 23" Floor

Boston MA 02110

Andrew Lelling

United States Attorney

U.S. Courthouse, Suite 9200
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Boston MA 02210

Commonwealth of Massachusetts

Division of Unemployment Assistance

Executive Office of Labor & Workplace Develop.
19 Staniford St., Hurley Bldg.

Boston MA 02114
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Jeff Sessions
Commonwealth. o5 DOR Attorney General of The United States
Bankruptcy Unit, P.O. Box 9564 :
. th U.S. Department of Justice
100 Cambridge Street, 7" floor .
Boston MA 02114-9564 950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
osto Washington DC 2053-0001

Office of the Attorney General

Commonwealth of MA Massachusetts Department of Revenue
: 2o Bankruptcy Unit

Consumer Protection Division TO Bos 064

One Ashburton Place, 19% Floor Boston, MA 02114-9564

Boston MA 02108

Daniel M. Feigenbaum, Esq. William H. Runge, I

Deputy General Counsel Alvarez & Marshal North America, LLC
Alvarez & Marshal Holdings, LLC Monarch Tower,

600 Madison Avenue 3424 Peachtree Road, NE, #1500

New York, NY 10022 Atlanta GA 30326

Internal Revenue Service

Centralized Insolvency Operation Internal Revenue Service
2970 Market Street Centralized Insolvency Operation
Philadelphia PA 19104 PO Box 7346

Philadelphia PA 19101-7346
Stuart MacMillan Internal Revenue Service
Chairman and Managing Partner 500 N. Capital St., NW
Impact This Day, Inc. Washington DC 20221
2555 Enterprise Road
Clearwater FL 33763
The Sheffield Group Massachusetts Securities Division
2239 N. Hayden Road William Neelon, Esq.
Suite 103 Enforcement Section
Scottsdale AZ 85257 One Ashburton Place, Room 1701

Boston MA 02108

Legal Services Center Lee A Armstrong, Esq.
lllzoégcg BTrlmgS 222 E. 41st Street
oylston Street New York, NY 10017

Jamaica Plain, MA 02130

Rodman, Rodman & Sandman Lane Powell

Richard Sandman 601 S.W. Second Avenue
442 main Street, Suite 300 Suite 2100

Malden MA 02148 Portland OR 97204
Babener & Associates Telecom Logic, LLC

121 SW Morrison, Suite 1020 818 SW 3 Avenue
Portland OR 97204 Suite 137

Portland OR 97204
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Richard W. Waak
11300 East Shore Drive
Delton MI 49046

PayPal Worldwide Operations
12312 Port Grace Blvd
La Vista Nebraska 68128

International Payout Systems Inc.
2500 E. Hallandale Beach Blvd.
Suite 800

Hallandale Beach FL 33009

Argus Payments Inc.
220 Humboldt Court
Sunnyvale CA 94089

Allied Wallet

1 Northcumberland Avenue
Trafalgar Square
LONDON, WC2N 5BW
UNITED KINGDOM

Garvey Schubert Barer

100 Wall Street

20% f1

New York, NY 10005-3708

Lane Powell Prof. Corporation
301 West Northern Lights Blvd.
Suite 301

Anchorage AK 99503

Andrea L. Marconi, Esq.
Fennemore Craig, P.C.
23921 E. Camelback Road
Phoenix, AZ 85016

David Meadows, Esq. & Phyllis B. Sumner, Esq.

King & Spauling, LLP
1180 Peachtree Street
Atlanta GA 30309-3521
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Cotton Driggs Walch Holley Woloson & Thompson
Richard Holley Ogonna Atamoh

400 S. 4% Street, 3" floor

Las Vegas, NV 89101

Lee M Pollack

Law Firm of Jones Day
222 E. 41st Street

New York, NY 10017

Telexfree

Stuart MacMillan

225 Cedar Hill St., Suite 200
Marlborough MA 01752

Gerald P. Nehra
1710 Beach Street
Muskegon MI 49441-1008

PayPal Corporate Headquarters
2211 North First Street
San Jose, CA 95131

Global Payroll Gateway, Inc.
2901 W. Coast Highway

Suite 200

Newport Beach CA 92663-4045

ProPay Inc.

3400 N. Ashton Blvd.
Suite 200

Lehi, UT 84043

Allied Wallet
9000 W. Sunset Blvd, #8320
West Hollywood CA 90069

Garvey Schubert Barer

Bank of America Financial Center
121 SW Morrison Street, 11% floor
Portland OR 97204-3141
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Law Offices of Ronald P. Passatempo
200 Broadway, Suite 102

Lynnfield MA 01940

Edward F. Manzi, Jr.
Fidelity CoOperative bank
675 Main Street
Fitchburg, MA 01420

TD Bank
185 Franklin Street
Boston MA 02110

J.P. Morgan Chase, N.A.

c/o CT Corporation System
155 Federal Street, Suite 700
Boston, MA 02110

Digital Federal Credit Union
853 Donald Lynch Blvd.
Marlborough MA 01752

Santander Bank
75 State Street
Boston MA 02109

Bertin C. Emmons, Esq.
Sovereign Bank

75 State Street, 4™ floor
Boston MA 02109
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Michael S. Held, Esq. & Lawrence Waks, Esq.

Jackson Walker LLP
2323 Ross Avenue, Suite 600
Dallas TX 75201-2725

Joseph R. Middleton, Esq.
KPMG, LLP

60 South Street

Boston MA 02111

Page 38 of 39

Garvey Schubert Barer

Flour Mill Building

1000 Potomac Street, NW, 5% Floor
Washin gton DC 20007-3501

Lane Powell Prof. Corporation
1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200
PO Box 91302

Seattle WA 98111

Opt3 Solutions, Inc.
15642 Sand Canyon Avenue, #52255
Irvine CA 92619-2255

Elizabeth Mueller, Esq., D. Scott Carlton, Esq.
& Thomas Zaccaro, Esq.

Law Firm of Paul Hastings, LLP

515 S. Flower Street

Los Angeles, CA 90071

Ciao Telecomm, Inc.
8390 LBJ Freeway
Dallas, TX 75243

Impact This Day Inc.

¢/o Debra L. Squier

506 Roxbury Drive
Safety Harbor, FL 34695

Robert M. Goldstein, Esq.
20 Park Plaza

Suite 2000

Boston MA 02116

Bank of America, N.A.
100 Federal Street
Boston MA 02110

Citizens Bank
28 State Street
Boston MA 02109
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Timothy Martin

Huron Consulting Services LLC
100 High Street, 23" Floor
Boston MA 02110

Miranda L. Hughes, Esq.

Brown, Winick, Graves, Gross,

Baskerville, & Schoenebaum P.L.C.

666 Grand Avenue, Suite 2000 Ruan Center
Des Moines, [A 50309

Mary Murrane, Esq.

United States Attorney

U.S. Courthouse, Suite 9200
One Courthouse Way
Boston MA 02210

Sarah Keily, Esq.

Nutter McClennan & Fish
155 Seaport Blvd.

Boston MA 02110

Geoffrey G. Nathan, Esq.
Nathan Law Office

132 Boylston Street, 5* Floor
Boston MA 02116

Oriental Bank

Old San Juan Branch
204 Tetuan Street
San Juan, PR 00901

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
¢/o Corporation Service Co.
84 State Street

Boston MA 02109

Nicholas R. Kennedy, Esq.
McGuireWoods, LLP

One James Center

901 East Cary St.
Richmond, VA 23219

Juanita F. Garza
KPMG LLP

811 Main Street
Houston TX 77002

Chelsey Woods

c/o Aegis Management Company
2 Jungle Hut Road, Suite 2

Palm Coast, FL 32137

Romualdo Gonzalez, Esq.
228 St. Charles Avenue, Suite 1230
New Orleans, LA 70130



